
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2015

1. Your Directors submit their Report for the financial year ended 31st March,
2015.

2. ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

India's macro-economic environment during financial year 2014-15 witnessed
marked improvement. GDP grew at the fastest pace over the last five years
while inflation and Current Account Deficit declined significantly. CPI inflation
eased by over 500 bps. WPI inflation moved into negative zone. These
improvements were largely attributed to decline in global commodity prices
(particularly of crude oil) and lower gold imports. Besides the support from
lower commodity prices, initiatives taken by the Central Government such as
deregulation of diesel prices, lower increase in minimum support price for
grain procurement etc., also complemented RBI's efforts in controlling inflation.

The fall in inflation in the current financial year provided the much needed
space for monetary accommodation that was utilised by the RBI to reduce
Policy rates by a cumulative 50 bps in the fourth quarter of the financial year
2014-15. The cut in Policy interest rates alongwith strong foreign institutional
investor interest in Indian Bonds, with capital inflows exceeding USD 26 billion,
resulted in decline in market interest rates across tenures. Considering the low
level of inflation and an outlook of benign commodity prices, market expectation
is for the RBI to reduce Policy rates further in the near term, which should help
provide impetus to economic growth in the financial year 2015-16.

3. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The overall performance of your Company has been satisfactory. During the
year, the revenue from operations grew by 6.90% to ` 6,985.82 lakhs (previous
year : ` 6,535.10 lakhs). Income from debt market deployments by the
Company aggregated ` 5,180.95 lakhs (previous year : ` 4,188.96 lakhs),
while revenue from equity market operations aggregated ` 289.88 lakhs
(previous year : ` 585.86 lakhs). Income from the Company's mutual fund
distribution and leasing activities aggregated ` 1,414.75 lakhs during the year
(previous year : ` 1,675.50 lakhs). Profit Before Tax and exceptional items
registered a growth of 7.29% to ` 6,746.26 lakhs while Net Profit stood at
` 5,638.04 lakhs. Cash flows from Operations aggregated ` 24,134.97 lakhs
compared to ` 8,606.55 lakhs in the previous year.

The financial results of your Company, summarised, are as under :

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)

a. Profit Before Tax and Exceptional Items 6,746.26 6,287.94

Less : Exceptional Items (Provision — 2,067.50
for diminution of non-current investments)

b. Profit Before Tax 6,746.26 4,220.44

Less : Tax Expense 1,108.22 763.51

c. Profit After Tax 5,638.04 3,456.93

d. Add : Profit brought forward from 9,508.84 14,435.11
previous years (after adjustment under
Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013)

e. Surplus available for Appropriation 15,146.88 17,892.04

f. Less: Interim Dividend paid 9,050.70 6,500.00
(recommended as Final Dividend)

g. Less: Income Tax on Interim Dividend 1,809.61 1,104.68

h. Less : Transferred to General Reserve — 86.43

i. Less : Transferred to Special Reserve under Section
45-IC of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 1,127.61 691.39

j. Balance carried forward to the following year 3,158.96 9,509.54

4. DIVIDEND

Interim Dividend of ` 1.40 per Equity Share having nominal value of ` 10/-
per Share, aggregating ` 9,050.70 lakhs, was declared by your Directors on
18th December, 2014, in proportion to the amount paid-up on each Equity
Share, out of the profits of the Company for payment to the Members whose
names appeared on the Register of Members on the said date; the said Interim
Dividend has been recommended by your Directors as the Final Dividend for
the financial year ended 31st March, 2015.

5. DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

(a) Changes in Directors and Key Managerial Personnel during the year

During the year under review, Mr. Partho Chatterjee (DIN: 00042208)
and Ms. Anindita Guhamallick (DIN: 07120151) were appointed by the
Members at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 16th March,
2015, as Independent Directors of the Company under Section 149 of
the Companies Act, 2013 ('the Act'), for a period of three years with effect
from the said date.

The Board of Directors of your Company ('the Board'), on the
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, re-
appointed Mr. Sharad Jain as the Manager of the Company for a further
period of two years with effect from 1st July, 2015, in terms of the provisions
of Sections 196 and 203 of the Act, subject to the approval of the Members
of the Company. Appropriate resolution seeking your approval to
Mr. Jain's  re-appointment as Manager is appearing in the Notice convening
the ensuing Annual General Meeting ('AGM') of the Company.

The Board during the year appointed Mr. Subramani Suresh Kumar as the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect from 1st January, 2015.

(b) Retirement by rotation

In accordance with the provisions of Section 152(6) of the Act, Mr. R.
Tandon (DIN: 00042227), Director, will retire by rotation at the ensuing
AGM of the Company, and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.
Your Board has recommended his re-election.

(c) Declaration of independence by Independent Directors

The Independent Directors of your Company have confirmed that they
meet the criteria of Independence as prescribed under Section 149(6) of
the Act read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and Qualification
of Directors) Rules, 2014.

(d) Attributes, qualifications and appointment of  Directors

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board adopted the
attributes and qualifications as provided in Section 149(6) of the Act and
Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors)
Rules, 2014, in respect of Independent Directors, and to the extent
applicable in respect of Non-Independent Directors.

Your Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, approved the Policy for laying down fit and proper criteria
of Directors, as required in terms of the Non-Banking Financial Companies
- Corporate Governance (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015. All the Non-
Executive Directors of the Company, other than Independent Directors,
are executives of ITC Limited, the Holding Company, who fulfil the fit and
proper criteria.  Further, all Directors of the Company, other than
Independent Directors, are liable to retire by rotation. One-third of the
Directors who are liable to retire by rotation, retire every year and are
eligible for re-election.

(e) Remuneration Policy

The Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, approved the Remuneration Policy for the Directors, Key
Managerial Personnel and other employees of the Company, a copy of
which is enclosed as Annexure 1 to this Report.

(f) Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Amongst the Directors, the Independent Directors of the Company are
entitled to sitting fees for attending meetings of the Board and Committees
thereof, the quantum of which has been presently determined by the
Board at ` 20,000/- and ` 10,000/- for attending each meeting of the
Board and Board Committee respectively.

The Directors did not have any pecuniary relationship or transaction with
the Company, other than as stated above.

(g) Board evaluation

The Board carried out annual performance evaluation of its own performance
and that of the individual Directors as also functioning of the Board
Committees, as required under Section 134(3)(p) of the Act. The
performance evaluation of the Board and individual Directors was based
on criteria approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
Reports of functioning of Committees were placed by the respective
Committee Chairman before the Board. The Directors expressed their
satisfaction with the quality, quantity and timeliness of flow of information
between the management and the Board.

6. NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS

During the year ended 31st March, 2015, seven meetings of the Board were
held.

7. BOARD COMMITTEES

The five Board Committees of the Company and their composition are as
follows:

Audit Committee Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Mr. R. Tandon (Chairman) Mr. B. B. Chatterjee (Chairman)

Mr. P. Chatterjee Mr. P. Chatterjee

Ms. A. Guhamallick Ms. A. Guhamallick

Mr. R. Tandon
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Dated : 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board
R. TANDON Chairman
S. DUTTA Director

CSR Committee Asset Liability Management Committee

Mr. R. Tandon (Chairman) Mr. R. Tandon (Chairman)

Mr. B. B. Chatterjee Mr. B. B. Chatterjee

Mr. P. Chatterjee Mr. Saradindu Dutta

Risk Management Committee

Mr. R. Tandon (Chairman)

Mr. Supratim Dutta

8. DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

As required under Section 134(5) of the Act, your Directors confirm having :-

i) followed in the preparation of the Annual Accounts, the applicable
Accounting Standards with proper explanation relating to material
departures, if any;

ii) selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of
the financial year and of the profit of the Company for that period;

iii) taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the
assets of your Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other
irregularities;

iv) prepared the Annual Accounts on a going concern basis; and

v) devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and that such systems are adequate and operating
effectively.

9. NBFC REGULATIONS

The disclosures as required under the Systemically Important Non-Banking
Financial  (Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies Prudential Norms
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015 and the Non-Banking Financial Companies -
Corporate Governance (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015, are provided in the
notes to the Financial Statements of the Company and the Schedule required
in terms of Para 13 of the aforesaid Prudential Norms is appended to the
Balance Sheet.

10. SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATES

The statement in Form AOC-1 containing the salient features of the financial
statements of the Company's subsidiary and associates is attached to the
Financial Statements of the Company.

Report on the performance and financial position of the Company's subsidiary
and associates in terms of Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is
not being provided, as the Company, being an intermediate wholly owned
subsidiary, is not required to prepare Consolidated Financial Statements.

11. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

None of the employees of your Company is covered under the provisions of
Rule 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial
Personnel) Rules, 2014.

12. HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT

Human Resources Development (HRD) practices in your Company are guided
by the principles of relevance, consistency and fairness. A productive workplace
has been and remains a key requirement for successful business performance
of your Company.  The Company believes that HRD strategies and practices
will continue to provide competitive advantage to the Company. In addition
to the Key Managerial Personnel, the Company presently has six employees.

13. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company's risk management framework is designed to bring robustness
to the risk management processes within the Company and addresses risks
intrinsic to operations, financials and compliances arising out of the overall
strategy of the Company.

The responsibility for management of risks vests with the Managers responsible
for the day-to-day conduct of the affairs of the Company. The Internal Auditor
of the Company (Internal Audit Department of ITC Limited, the Holding
Company) periodically carries out risk focused audits with the objective of
identifying areas where risk management processes could be strengthened.
Annual update is provided to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management systems and policies. The Company has also
constituted a Risk Management Committee, as required in terms of the Non-
Banking Financial Companies - Corporate Governance (Reserve Bank) Directions,
2015; the said Committee periodically reviews the risk management framework
of the Company so as to effectively address the existing and emerging challenges
in a dynamic business environment. During the year under review, the Risk
Management Policy of the Company was approved by the Board, on the
recommendation of the Risk Management Committee.

14. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

Your Company has in place adequate internal control systems with respect to
its operations and compliances as also internal financial controls with respect
to the financial statements, commensurate with its size and scale of operations.
The Internal Auditor evaluates the adequacy and efficacy of internal control
systems in the Company. The Audit Committee provides guidance on internal
controls, reviews internal audit findings and ensures that internal audit
recommendations are implemented.

During the year, no reportable material weakness in the design or operation
of the internal financial controls in the Company was observed. Nonetheless
your Company recognises that any internal financial control framework, no
matter how well designed, has inherent limitations and accordingly, regular
audit and review processes ensure that such systems are reinforced on an
ongoing basis.

15. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

The Annual Report on CSR activities of the Company as required under Section
135 of the Act read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy)
Rules, 2014 is enclosed as Annexure 2 to this Report.

16. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS

The requirements of Section 186 of the Act relating to loans, guarantees and
investments are not applicable to the Company.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Board, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, approved the
Policy on dealing with Related Party Transactions of the Company, a copy of
which is enclosed as Annexure 3 to this Report.

During the year ended 31st March, 2015, the Company has not entered into
any contract or arrangement with its related parties which is not on arm's
length basis.  The details in Form No. AOC-2 of a material transaction between
the Company and its related party are enclosed under Annexure 4 to this
Report.

18. SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS /
COURTS / TRIBUNALS

During the year under review, no significant or material orders were passed
by the Regulators / Courts / Tribunals impacting the going concern status of
the Company and its future operations.

19. EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

The details forming part of the extract of Annual Return in Form No. MGT-9
are enclosed under Annexure 5 to this Report.

20. AUDITORS

(a) Statutory Auditors

The Company's Statutory Auditors, Messrs. A. F. Ferguson & Co., Chartered
Accountants ('AFF'), were appointed with your approval at the Twentieth
AGM to hold such office till the conclusion of the Twenty-Fifth AGM. Your
Board, in terms of Section 139 of the Act, on the recommendation of the
Audit Committee, has recommended for the ratification of the Members
the appointment of AFF from the conclusion of the ensuing AGM till the
conclusion of the Twenty-Second AGM. The Board, in terms of Section
142 of the Act, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has also
recommended for the approval of the Members the remuneration of AFF
for the financial year 2015-16. Appropriate resolution in respect of the
above is appearing in the Notice convening the ensuing AGM of the
Company.

(b) Secretarial Auditor

Your Board appointed Messrs. Anjan Kumar Roy & Co., Company
Secretaries, to conduct secretarial audit of the Company for the financial
year ended 31st March, 2015. The Report of Messrs. Anjan Kumar Roy
& Co. is enclosed in terms of Section 204 of the Act as Annexure 6 to
this Report.

21. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN
EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

Considering the nature of business of your Company, no comment is required
on conservation of energy and technology absorption.

During the year under review, there has been no foreign exchange earnings
or outflow.
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Annexure 1 to the Report of the Board of Directors &
Management Discussion and Analysis for the financial year ended 31st March, 2015

Remuneration Policy

The Company’s Remuneration Strategy is designed to attract and retain quality talent that gives its business a competitive advantage and enables the
Company to achieve its objectives.

The Company’s Remuneration Strategy, whilst focusing on remuneration and related aspects of performance management, is aligned with and reinforces
the employee value proposition of a superior quality of work life, that includes an enabling work environment, an empowering and engaging work culture
and opportunities to learn and grow.

The Compensation approach endeavours to align each employee with the Company’s goals.

POLICY

It is the Company’s Policy:

1. To ensure that its Remuneration practices support and encourage meritocracy.

2. To ensure that Remuneration is market-led and takes into account the competitive context of the Company’s business.

3. To leverage Remuneration as an effective instrument to enhance performance and therefore to link the remuneration to both individual and collective
performance outcomes.

4. To adopt a comprehensive approach to Remuneration in order to support a superior quality of personal and work life, in a manner so as to judiciously
balance short term with long term priorities.

5. To design Remuneration practices such that they reinforce the Company’s values and culture and to implement them in a manner that complies with
all relevant regulatory requirements.

Remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

1. Remuneration of KMP is determined and recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.  Remuneration
of the Managing Director / Wholetime Director / Manager is also subject to the approval of the shareholders.

2. Remuneration is reviewed and revised periodically, when such a revision is warranted by the market.

3. Apart from fixed elements of remuneration and benefits, the KMP are also eligible for Variable Pay / Performance Bonus which is linked to their individual
performance.

4. Remuneration of KMP on deputation from the Holding Company / subsidiary / fellow subsidiary / associate companies, is aligned to the Remuneration
Policy of that company.

Remuneration of Independent Directors

Independent Directors are entitled to sitting fees for attending meetings of the Board and Board Committees, the quantum of which is determined by
the Board within the limits prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder. The expenses of the Independent Directors for attending
meetings of the Board and Board Committees and General Meetings are also borne by the Company.

Remuneration of employees other than KMP

1. Remuneration of employees other than KMP is approved by the Board.

2. Remuneration is reviewed and revised periodically, when such a revision is warranted by the market. The quantum of revision is linked to market trends,
the competitive context of the Company’s business, as well as the track record of the individual employee.

3. Variable Pay is based on the performance rating of the individual employee.

Annexure 2 to the Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and Analysis

Annual Report on CSR Activities of the Company for the financial year ended 31st March, 2015

[Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the
Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014]

1. A brief outline of the Company's CSR Policy, including overview of projects The Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of ITC Limited
or programs proposed to be undertaken (ITC), discharges its corporate social responsibilities (CSR)

by aligning itself with the CSR Policy of ITC.
The Company undertakes CSR activities:
 as listed in Schedule VII to the Companies Act, 2013,

in line with the CSR initiatives of ITC and as approved
by the CSR Committee of the Company;

 directly or through a registered trust or a registered
society or a company established under Section 8 of the
Companies Act, 2013.

The Company may collaborate with ITC or other companies
for undertaking CSR activities.

2. Composition of the CSR Committee Mr. R. Tandon (Chairman)
Mr. B. B. Chatterjee
Mr. P. Chatterjee

3. Average net profits of the Company for last three financial years ` 4,460.47 lakhs

4. Prescribed CSR expenditure (2% of the amount stated under 3 above) ` 89.21 lakhs

5. Details of CSR spends a) Total amount to be spent for the financial year ` 90 lakhs
during the financial year: b) Amount unspent, if any Nil



c) Manner in which the amount spent during the financial year is detailed below :

Sl. CSR project Sector in which Projects or programs Amount outlay Amount spent on Cumulative Amount spent:
No. or activity the project is (1) Local area or other (Budget) project or the projects or expenditure Direct or through

identified covered program wise programs upto the implementing agency
(2) Specify the State reporting period
and district where  Sub-heads:
projects or programs (1) Direct
were undertaken expenditure

on projects
or programs

(2) Overheads

1. Contribution Preservation & N.A. ` 90 lakhs ` 90 lakhs ` 90 lakhs Implementing
to ITC Sangeet propagation of Agency - ITC Sangeet
Research Hindustani Research Academy,
Academy Classical Music Kolkata

[covered under
Clause (v) of
Schedule VII to
the Companies
Act, 2013]

The CSR Committee of the Board has confirmed that the implementation and monitoring of the CSR Policy is in compliance with the CSR objectives and
Policy of the Company.
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Annexure 4 to the Report of the Board of Directors &
Management Discussion and Analysis for the financial year ended 31st March, 2015

FORM NO. AOC-2

[Pursuant to Section 134(3)(h) of the Companies Act, 2013 and
Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014]

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts / arrangements entered into by the Company with related parties referred to in sub-section (1)
of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm's length transactions under third proviso thereto

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm's length basis

a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship

b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / transactions

c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements / transactions

d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any

e) Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transactions

f) Date(s) of approval by the Board

g) Amount paid as advances, if any

h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting as required under first proviso to Section 188

NIL

Annexure 3 to the Report of the Board of Directors &
Management Discussion and Analysis for the financial year ended 31st March, 2015

Policy on dealing with Related Party Transactions

1. The Company shall not enter into any contract or arrangement with a related party without the approval of the Audit Committee.

2. The Audit Committee may, in the interest of the conduct of affairs of the Company, grant omnibus approval for related party transactions that are
repetitive in nature, subject to the following being approved by the Committee:

(a) The name(s) of the related party, nature of transaction, period of transaction, maximum amount of transaction that can be entered into;

(b) The indicative base price / current contracted price and the formula for variation in the price, if any; and

(c) Such other conditions as the Audit Committee may deem fit to stipulate.

3. The Audit Committee shall review, at least on a half-yearly basis, the details of related party transactions entered into by the Company pursuant to
the omnibus approval.

Such omnibus approval shall be valid for a period not exceeding one year and shall require fresh approvals after the expiry of one year.

4. In the event any contract or arrangement with a related party is not in the ordinary course of business or not at arm's length, the Company shall
comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules framed thereunder and obtain approval of the Board and / or shareholders,
as applicable, for such contract or arrangement.

5. The requisite details of (a) material related party transactions and (b) related party transactions which are not at arm's length, shall be disclosed in
the Annual Report in terms of the Companies Act, 2013 & the Rules framed thereunder and the RBI Regulations.

For this purpose, a transaction with a related party shall be considered material if the transaction(s) to be entered into individually or taken together
with previous transactions during a financial year, exceeds 10% of the revenue of operations of the Company as per its last audited financial statements.

Dated : 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board
R. TANDON Chairman-CSR Committee

S. DUTTA Director



a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship ITC Infotech India Limited (ITC Infotech), fellow subsidiary

b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / transactions Unsecured inter-corporate loan of ` 100 crores to ITC Infotech

c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements / transactions Not exceeding one year from the date of first disbursement of the loan

d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions Interest payable on quarterly basis @ 10% per annum
including the value, if any

e) Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any Pursuant to delegation by the Board of Directors at the meeting held on 
18th December, 2014

f) Amount paid as advances, if any —

2. Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm's length basis
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Dated : 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board
R. TANDON Chairman

S. DUTTA Director

III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Sl. No. Name and Address of the Company CIN / GLN Holding / Subsidiary / % of shares held Applicable

Associate in/by the Company Section

1. ITC Limited L16005WB1910PLC001985 Holding company 100.00% 2(46)
Virginia House
37 Jawaharlal Nehru Road
Kolkata - 700 071

2. Greenacre Holdings Limited U55202WB1986PLC049467 Subsidiary company 100.00% 2(87)
ITC Centre
37 J. L. Nehru Road
Kolkata - 700 071

3. International Travel House Limited L63040DL1981PLC011941 Associate company 45.36% 2(6)
Travel House, T-2 Community Centre
Sheikh Sarai, Phase-I
New Delhi - 110 017

4. Divya Management Limited U51109WB1995PLC069518 Associate company 33.33% 2(6)
8/2 Kiron Sankar Roy Road
2nd floor, Room No. 28
Kolkata - 700 001

5. Antrang Finance Limited U65993WB1993PLC060271 Associate company 33.33% 2(6)
4 Ripon Street, 2nd Floor
Kolkata - 700 016

6. Classic Infrastructure & U45201WB1996PLC116323 Associate company 29.41% 2(6)
Development Limited
ITC Centre, 4th Floor
37 J. L. Nehru Road
Kolkata - 700 071

7. Russell Investments Limited U65993WB1987PLC043324 Associate company 25.43% 2(6)
21 Prafulla Sarkar Street
Kolkata - 700 072

8. Maharaja Heritage Resorts Limited U74899DL1995PLC099649 Associate company 25.00% 2(6)
25, Community Centre,
Basant Lok, Vasant Vihar
New Delhi - 110 057

Annexure 5 to the Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and Analysis

FORM NO. MGT-9
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

as on the financial year ended on 31st March, 2015

[Pursuant to Section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 12(1) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

I. REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS
i) CIN : U65993WB1994PLC061684
ii) Registration Date : 1st February, 1994
iii) Name of the Company : Russell Credit Limited
iv) Category / Sub-Category of the Company : Unlisted Public Company limited by shares
v) Address of the Registered office and contact details : Virginia House

37 J. L. Nehru Road
Kolkata - 700 071
Phone: 033 2288 4086 / 6228 / 1946
Fax: 033 2288 9980
E-mail ID : RussellCredit.Limited@itc.in

vi) Whether listed company : No
vii) Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar and Transfer Agent, if any : N.A.

II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY
    All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the Company shall be stated:-

Sl. No. Name and Description of main products / services NIC Code of the % of total turnover
Product / service of the Company

1. Brokerage Income 66120 12.12%
2. Other financial service activities: 64990

 Net profit on sale of stock-in-trade 21.68%
 Dividend income from mutual funds held as stock-in-trade 39.99%
 Interest Income from Bonds 10.34%
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IV. SHAREHOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)
(i) Category-wise Shareholding:

A. Promoters
(1) Indian
a) Individual/HUF — — — — — — — — N.A.
b) Central Govt. — — — — — — — — N.A.
c) State Govt.(s) — — — — — — — — N.A.
d) Bodies Corp. — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 Nil
e) Banks / FI — — — — — — — — N.A.
f) Any Other — — — — — — — — N.A.
Sub-total (A)(1) — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 Nil
(2) Foreign
a) NRIs - Individuals — — — — — — — — N.A.
b) Other - Individuals — — — — — — — — N.A.
c) Bodies Corp. — — — — — — — — N.A.
d) Banks / FI — — — — — — — — N.A.
e) Any Other — — — — — — — — N.A.
Sub-total (A)(2) — — — — — — — — N.A.
Total shareholding of Promoter
(A) = (A)(1)+(A)(2) — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 Nil
B. Public Shareholding
1. Institutions
a) Mutual Funds — — — — — — — — N.A.
b) Banks / FI — — — — — — — — N.A.
c) Central Govt. — — — — — — — — N.A.
d) State Govt.(s) — — — — — — — — N.A.
e) Venture Capital Funds — — — — — — — — N.A.
f) Insurance Companies — — — — — — — — N.A.
g) FIIs — — — — — — — — N.A.
h) Foreign Venture Capital Funds — — — — — — — — N.A.
i) Others (specify) — — — — — — — — N.A.
Sub-total (B)(1) — — — — — — — — N.A.
2. Non-Institutions
a) Bodies Corp.
i) Indian — — — — — — — — N.A.
ii) Overseas — — — — — — — — N.A.
b) Individuals
i) Individual shareholders holding
nominal share capital upto Rs. 1 lakh — — — — — — — — N.A.
ii) Individual shareholders
holding nominal share
capital in excess of Rs. 1 lakh — — — — — — — — N.A.
c) Others (specify) — — — — — — — — N.A.
Sub-total (B)(2) — — — — — — — — N.A.
Total Public Shareholding
(B)=(B)(1) + (B)(2) — — — — — — — — N.A.
C. Shares held by Custodian
for GDRs & ADRs — — — — — — — — N.A.
Grand Total (A+B+C) — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 — 67,28,76,577 67,28,76,577 100.00 Nil

Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the end of the yearNo. of Shares held at the beginning of the year % Change
during the year

% of Total SharesTotalPhysicalDemat% of Total SharesTotalPhysicalDemat

(ii) Shareholding of Promoters:

Sl. Shareholder's Shareholding at the Shareholding at the %
No. Name beginning of the year end of the year change in

shareholding
during the year

No. of % of total % of Shares No. of % of total % of Shares
Shares Shares of the pledged / Shares Shares of the pledged /

Company  encumbered Company encumbered
to total Shares to total Shares

1. ITC Limited 67,28,76,577 100.00 Nil 67,28,76,577 100.00 Nil Nil

(iv) Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs): NOT APPLICABLE

(v) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel: None of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel hold any share in the Company.

V. INDEBTEDNESS
Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding / accrued but not due for payment : NIL

(iii) Change in Promoters' Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change):

Sl. Shareholding at the Cumulative Shareholding
No. beginning of the year during the year

No. of Shares % of total Shares
of the Company

No. of Shares % of total Shares
of the Company

At the beginning of the year 
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Promoters
Shareholding during the year
At the end of the year 

No change during the year
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Sl. Particulars of Remuneration S. Jain (Manager & Company Secretary)
No. (refer note)
1. Gross Salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in Section 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 —
(b) Value of perquisites under Section 17(2) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 —
(c) Profits in lieu of salary under Section 17(3) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 —

2. Stock Option —
3. Sweat Equity —
4. Commission —

- as % of profit
- others, specify

5. Others, please specify —
Total Amount (A) —
Ceiling as per the Act (5% of the net profits of the Company computed in accordance 334.18
with Section 198 of the Companies Act, 2013)

VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Wholetime Directors and/or Manager: (` in lakhs)

B. Remuneration to other Directors:

Sl. Name of the Directors Particulars of Remuneration Total Amount

No. Fee for attending Commission Others,
Board and Board please specify

Committee meetings

1. Independent Directors
P. Chatterjee 0.50 Nil Nil 0.50
A. Guhamallick 0.40 0.40
Total Amount (B)(1) 0.90 0.90

2. Other Non-Executive Directors
R. Tandon Nil Nil Nil Nil
B. B. Chatterjee
Saradindu Dutta
Supratim Dutta
Total Amount (B)(2) Nil

Total Amount (B) = (B)(1) + (B)(2) 0.90
Total Managerial Remuneration (A + B) 0.90
Overall ceiling as per the Act (11% of the net profits of the Company computed in accordance with Section 198 of the 735.19
Companies Act, 2013)

C. Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel other than MD / Manager / WTD:

Sl.                                      Particulars of Remuneration S. Suresh Kumar (Chief Financial Officer)
No. (refer note)
1. Gross Salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in Section 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 5.93
(b) Value of perquisites under Section 17(2) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 —
(c) Profits in lieu of salary under Section 17(3) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 —

2. Stock Option —
3. Sweat Equity —
4. Commission —

- as % of profit
- others, specify

5. Others, please specify —
Total Amount 5.93

Note: Mr. S. Suresh Kumar has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect from 1st January, 2015.

VII. PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT / COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES against the Company, Directors and other Officers in Default under the Companies
Act, 2013 : None

Dated : 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board
R. TANDON Chairman

S. DUTTA Director

Note: ITC Limited (ITC), the Holding Company, has deputed the services of Mr. S. Jain to the Company without levy of any charge. Accordingly, Mr. Jain's
remuneration for the financial year ended 31st March, 2015 has been borne by ITC.

(` in lakhs)

(` in lakhs)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF RUSSELL
CREDIT LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of RUSSELL
CREDIT LIMITED ("the Company"), which comprise the Balance Sheet as
at 31st March, 2015, the Statement of Profit and Loss, the Cash Flow
Statement for the year then ended, and a summary of the significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in
Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act") with respect to the
preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company
in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Accounting  Standards specified  under  Section  133 of  the
 Act,  read  with  Rule  7  of  the  Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. This
responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records
in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of
the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities;
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls,

that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of
the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and
auditing standards and matters which are required to be included in the
audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing
specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and the disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due

Annexure 6 to the Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and Analysis

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON 31ST MARCH, 2015

 [Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 9 of
the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
M/s. Russell Credit Limited
Virginia House,
37, J.L. Nehru Road,
Kolkata - 700 071

1. We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices by M/s. Russell Credit Limited (hereinafter
called 'the Company'). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts / statutory compliances and expressing our
opinion thereon.

2. On the basis of verification of the secretarial compliance and on the basis of secretarial audit of Company's books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained
by the Company as shown to us during the said audit and also based on the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct
of secretarial audit, we hereby report that in our opinion and to the best of our understanding, the Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 31st March,
2015, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has adequate Board processes and compliance mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner
and subject to the reporting made hereinafter.

3. We have examined the secretarial compliance based on the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by M/s. Russell Credit Limited for the financial
year ended on 31st March, 2015 and as shown to us during our audit, according to the provisions of the following laws:
(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;
(ii) The Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder, as applicable;
(iii) The Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 ('SEBI Act') viz. :-

a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;
(iv) and the following laws specifically applicable to the Company:

(a) Non-Banking Financial (Non - Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2007 and other RBI Regulations as applicable to Non-Deposit
taking NBFCs;
(b) Reserve Bank of India and Securities and Exchange Board of India guidelines on Mutual Fund Advisor.

4. To the best of our understanding, we are of the view that during the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, etc.
mentioned above.

5. We further report that,
(a) The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors, in compliance with the applicable provisions

of law. The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.
(b) Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance and a system exists for seeking

and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting.
6. We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size and operations of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with

applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.
7. This Report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure A and forms an integral part of this Report.

Place : Kolkata
Date  : 22/04/2015

For, ANJAN KUMAR ROY & CO.
Company Secretaries
ANJAN KUMAR ROY

Proprietor
FCS No. 5684
CP. No. 4557

'Annexure A'

(To the Secretarial Audit Report of M/s. Russell Credit Limited for the Financial Year ended 31/03/2015)

To,
The Members,
M/s. Russell Credit Limited
Virginia House,
37, J. L. Nehru Road,
Kolkata - 700 071

Our Secretarial Audit Report for the financial year ended 31/03/2015 of even date is to be read along with this letter.
1. Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.
2. We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verification

was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of the Company.
4. Wherever necessary, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.
5. The compliance of the provisions of corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the verification

of procedures on test basis.
6. The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of

the Company.

Place : Kolkata
Date  : 22/04/2015

For, ANJAN KUMAR ROY & CO.
Company Secretaries
ANJAN KUMAR ROY

Proprietor
FCS No. 5684
CP. No. 4557
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For A. F. FERGUSON & CO.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No. 112066W)

Ketan Vora
MUMBAI Partner
28th April, 2015 (Membership No. 100459)

ANNEXURE TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Having regard to the nature of the Company’s business / activities / results
during the year, clauses (ii), (v), (vi), (ix) and (xi) of paragraph 3 of the
Order are not applicable to the Company. In respect of the other clauses,
we report as under:

(i) In respect of its fixed assets:

(a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full
particulars, including quantitative details and situation of
fixed assets.

(b) The fixed assets were physically verified during the year by
the Management in accordance with a regular programme
of verification which, in our opinion, provides for physical
verification of all the fixed assets at reasonable intervals.
According to the information and explanation given to us,
no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(ii) The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to
companies, firms or other parties covered in the Register maintained
under Section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013.

(iii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations
given to us, there is an adequate internal control system
commensurate with the size of the Company and the nature of its
business with regard to purchases of fixed assets and the sale of
services. During the course of our audit, we have not observed any
major weakness in such internal control system.

(iv) According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect
of  statutory dues:

(a) The Company has been generally regular in depositing
undisputed statutory dues, including Provident Fund,
Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service
Tax, Value Added Tax, Cess and other material statutory dues
applicable to it with the appropriate authorities.

(b) There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of
Provident Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income-tax,
Sales Tax, Service Tax, Value Added Tax, Cess and other
material statutory dues in arrears as at March 31, 2015 for
a period of more than six months from the date they became
payable.

For A. F. FERGUSON & CO.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No. 112066W)

Ketan Vora
MUMBAI Partner
28th April, 2015 (Membership No. 100459)

Name of the Nature of Amount Period to which Forum where
statute the dues (` in lakhs) the amount pending

relates

Tamil Nadu Sales Tax 1.79 2003-04 Sales Tax
General Sales Appellate
Tax Act & Central Tribunal
Sales Tax Act
Tamil Nadu Sales Tax 19.24 2004-05 Commercial
General Sales Tax Officer
Tax Act & Central
Sales Tax Act
Tamil Nadu Sales Tax 24.25 2005-06 Commercial
General Sales Tax Officer
Tax Act & Central
Sales Tax Act
The Central Sales Tax 10.53 2005-06 Directorate of
Sales Tax Act Commercial

Taxes

(d) There are no amounts that are due to be transferred to the
Investor Education and Protection Fund in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of
1956) and Rules made thereunder.

(v) The Company does not have accumulated losses at the end of the
financial year and the Company has not incurred cash losses during
the financial year covered by our audit and in the immediately
preceding financial year.

(vi) According to the information and explanations given to us, the
Company has not given guarantees for loans taken by others from
banks and financial institutions.

(vii) To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and
explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company and no significant
fraud on the Company has been noticed or reported during the
year.

(c) Details of dues of Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Value
Added Tax and Cess which have not been deposited as on
March 31, 2015 on account of disputes are given below:

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal financial control relevant to the Company's preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the Company has in place
an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and
the operating effectiveness of such controls. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of the accounting estimates made by the Company's Directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the financial
statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the
explanations given to us, the aforesaid financial statements give the
information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true
and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted
in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2015, and
its profit and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2015 ("the
Order") issued by the Central Government in terms of Section 143(11)
of the Act, we give in the Annexure a statement on the matters specified
in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations
which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for
the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have
been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination
of those books.

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Cash
Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with
the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read
with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the
directors as on 31st March, 2015 taken  on  record  by  the  Board
 of  Directors,  none  of  the  directors  is  disqualified  as  on 31st
March, 2015 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section
164 (2) of the Act.

(f) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's
Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and
Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our
information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations
on its financial position in its financial statements - Refer Note
19(ii)(a) to the financial statements;

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including
derivative contracts for which there were any material
foreseeable losses;

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred
to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2015

Note As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' funds

Share capital 1 64,647.88  64,647.88
Reserves and surplus 2 13,579.71  78,227.59  18,802.68  83,450.56

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 3 93.48  85.62
Long-term provisions 4 11.68  105.16  11.13  96.75

Current liabilities
Other current liabilities 5 36.31  36.31  53.69  53.69

TOTAL 78,369.06  83,601.00

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 6

Tangible assets 1,508.64  1,703.99
Non-current investments 7 17,342.65  17,488.76
Long-term loans and advances 8 541.92 19,393.21  487.94  19,680.69

Current assets
Inventories 9 45,823.82  63,042.82
Trade receivables 10 383.77  540.93
Cash and bank balances 11 12,543.49  150.00
Short-term loans and advances 12  140.00  186.56
Other current assets 13 84.77  58,975.85 —  63,920.31

TOTAL 78,369.06  83,601.00

The accompanying notes 1 to 20 are an integral part of the Financial Statements.

In terms of our report attached

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2015

Note For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
Revenue from operations 14 6,985.82  6,535.10
Other income 15 95.35  16.77
Total Revenue 7,081.17  6,551.87

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 16 15.84  16.18
Depreciation  expense 194.29  217.90
Other expenses 17 124.78  29.85
Total Expenses 334.91  263.93

Profit before tax and exceptional items 6,746.26  6,287.94

Exceptional items
Provision for diminution of non-current investments 19(ix) —  2,067.50

Profit before tax 6,746.26  4,220.44

Tax expense:
Current tax 18 1,100.00  734.25
Deferred tax 18 8.22  29.26

Profit for the year 5,638.04  3,456.93

Earnings per share (Face Value ` 10.00 each) 19 (i) ` 0.87 ` 0.53
(Basic and Diluted)

The accompanying notes 1 to 20 are an integral part of the Financial Statements.

In terms of our report attached

For A. F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants

KETAN VORA
Partner

Mumbai, 28th April, 2015

S. DUTTA Director R. TANDON Chairman

S. SURESH KUMAR Chief Financial Officer S. JAIN Manager & Company Secretary

Kolkata, 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board

For A. F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants

KETAN VORA
Partner

Mumbai, 28th April, 2015

S. DUTTA Director R. TANDON Chairman

S. SURESH KUMAR Chief Financial Officer S. JAIN Manager & Company Secretary

Kolkata, 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2015
For the year ended For the year ended

31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014
(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)

A. Cash Flow from Operating Activities
PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 6,746.26 6,287.94
ADJUSTMENTS FOR:

Depreciation expense 194.29 217.90
Interest Income (1,057.71)  (890.94)
Dividend Income from Long Term Investments (226.29)  (310.27)
Dividend Income from mutual funds held as stock-in-trade  (2,793.79)  (3,161.42)
Gain on sale of Long Term Investments  (63.59)  (35.26)

 (3,947.09)  (4,179.99)

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES 2,799.17  2,107.95
ADJUSTMENTS FOR:

Trade Receivables, Loans and Advances 13.13  27.46 
Inventories 17,219.00 2,142.02
Other Liabilities and Provisions  (16.83)  (33.51)

17,215.30  2,135.97
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INTEREST
AND DIVIDEND 20,014.47 4,243.92

Interest income other than deposits with banks 1,100.42  890.94 
Dividend income from Long Term Investments 226.29  310.27 
Dividend income from mutual funds held as stock-in-trade 2,793.79 3,161.42

4,120.50  4,362.63

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 24,134.97  8,606.55
Income Tax paid (1,090.87)  (895.31)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23,044.10  7,711.24

B. Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Purchase of Long Term Investments —  (2,575.58)
Sale of Long Term Investments 209.70 2,579.40
Investment in bank deposits
(original maturity more than 3 months) (12,500.00) —

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (12,290.30)  3.82

C. Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Interim Dividend Paid (9,050.70)  (6,500.00)
Income Tax on Interim Dividend Paid (1,809.61)  (1,104.68)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (10,860.31)  (7,604.68)
NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (106.51)  110.38
OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 150.00 39.62
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 43.49  150.00

Notes:
1. The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as set out in Accounting Standard - 3 "Cash Flow Statements".

2. Since the Company is an investment company, purchase and sale of investments and investments in fixed deposits have been considered as part of "Cash
Flow from Investing Activities" and income earned on investments have been considered as part of "Cash Flow from Operating Activities".

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS :
Cash and cash equivalents as above 43.49  150.00
Other bank balances 12,500.00 —

     Cash and bank balances (Note 11) 12,543.49  150.00

The accompanying notes 1 to 20 are an integral part of the Financial Statements.

In terms of our report attached

For A. F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants

KETAN VORA
Partner

Mumbai, 28th April, 2015

S. DUTTA Director R. TANDON Chairman

S. SURESH KUMAR Chief Financial Officer S. JAIN Manager & Company Secretary

Kolkata, 28th April, 2015

On behalf of the Board
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at As at As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014 31st March, 2014

(No. of Shares) (` in lakhs) (No. of Shares) (` in lakhs)
1. Share capital

Authorised
Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each 70,00,00,000 70,000.00 70,00,00,000 70,000.00

Issued and Subscribed
Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid 59,74,54,177 59,745.42 59,74,54,177 59,745.42
Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, ` 6.50 per share paid up 7,54,22,400 4,902.46 7,54,22,400 4,902.46

TOTAL 64,647.88 64,647.88

A) Reconciliation of number of Equity Shares outstanding
As at the beginning and at the end of the year (fully paid up) 59,74,54,177 59,745.42 59,74,54,177 59,745.42
As at the beginning and at the end of the year (partly paid up) 7,54,22,400 4,902.46 7,54,22,400 4,902.46

TOTAL 64,647.88 64,647.88

B) Shareholders holding more than 5% of the As at As at As at As at
Equity Shares in the Company 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014 31st March, 2014

(No. of Shares) % (No. of Shares) %

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid-up
ITC Limited - Holding Company 59,74,54,177 100.00 59,74,54,177 100.00

Issued, Subscribed but not Fully Paid-up
ITC Limited - Holding Company 7,54,22,400 100.00 7,54,22,400 100.00

C) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to the Equity Shares

In respect of the Equity Shares of the Company having par value of `10.00 per share, the voting rights and entitlement to dividend are in the same
proportion as the capital paid-up on such Equity Shares.

As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
2. Reserves and surplus

Capital Reserve
At the beginning and at the end of the year 287.67  287.67

General Reserve
At the beginning of the year 224.79  138.36
Add: Transfer from Surplus in Statement of Profit and Loss —  86.43
At the end of the year 224.79  224.79

Special Reserve u/s 45-IC of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934
At the beginning of the year 8,780.68  8,089.29
Add: Transfer from Surplus in Statement of Profit and Loss 1,127.61  691.39
At the end of the year 9,908.29  8,780.68

Surplus in Statement of Profit and Loss
At the beginning of the year 9,509.54  14,435.11

Less : Depreciation on transition to Schedule II of the
Companies Act, 2013 on Tangible Fixed Assets
(Net of Deferred Tax ` 0.36 lakhs) [Refer Note 19(viii)]  0.70 —
Add  : Profit for the year 5,638.04  3,456.93
Less : Transfer to Special Reserve u/s 45-IC of the
Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 1,127.61  691.39

Transfer to General Reserve —  86.43
Interim Dividend [ ` 1.40 (2014- ` 1.01) per share] 9,050.70  6,500.00
Income Tax paid on Interim Dividend 1,809.61  1,104.68

At the end of the year 3,158.96  9,509.54

TOTAL 13,579.71  18,802.68

As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
3. Deferred tax liabilities (Net)

Deferred tax liabilities
On fiscal allowances on fixed assets 100.00  91.46

100.00  91.46

Deferred tax assets
On employees' separation and retirement etc. 6.52  5.84

6.52  5.84

TOTAL 93.48  85.62

As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
4. Long-term provisions

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity 1.04 0.81
Provision for compensated absences 2.10 1.78

Others
Contingent provision against standard assets 8.54 8.54

TOTAL 11.68 11.13
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As at As at

31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014
(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)

5. Other Current Liabilities
Security deposits - from Holding Company 12.00 12.00
Other payables

Statutory liabilities 2.73 19.61
Liabilities for expenses 21.58 22.08

TOTAL 36.31 53.69

As at 31st March, 2015 As at 31st March, 2014
7. Non-current Investments (at cost unless stated otherwise) Quoted Unquoted Quoted Unquoted

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
Long Term

A. TRADE INVESTMENTS
INVESTMENT IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
In Subsidiaries
Greenacre Holdings Limited 4,210.34  4,210.34

4,20,60,166 Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

In Associates 
Russell Investments Limited 427.57  427.57

42,75,435 Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

Classic Infrastructure & Development Limited 376.88  376.88
37,50,000 Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

Divya Management Limited 693.07  693.07
41,82,915 Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

Antrang Finance Limited 439.56  439.56
43,24,634 Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

International Travel House Limited 2,121.58  2,121.58
36,26,633 Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

Maharaja Heritage Resorts Limited
(a joint venture of the Holding Company) 90.00  90.00

90,000 Equity Shares of ` 100.00 each, fully paid

In Others 
Hotel Leelaventure Limited 1,592.77  1,592.77

50,27,565 Equity Shares of ` 2.00 each, fully paid
EIH Limited 4,837.88  4,837.88

65,56,551 Equity Shares of ` 2.00 each, fully paid
Ballarpur Industries Limited —  146.11

Nil (2014 - 11,14,503) Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

B. OTHER INVESTMENTS 
INVESTMENT IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Lotus Court Limited 234.00  234.00

2 Class G Shares of ` 48,000.00 each, fully paid
Adyar Property Holding Company Private Limited 2,319.00  2,319.00

311 Equity Shares of ` 100.00 each, ` 65.00 per share paid 
Net of Provision for Diminution in Value ` 2,067.50 lakhs
(2014 - ` 2,067.50 lakhs ) [Refer Note 19 (ix)]

Aggregate amount of quoted and unquoted Investments 8,552.23  8,790.42  8,698.34  8,790.42

TOTAL NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS 17,342.65  17,488.76

Aggregate market value of quoted investments ` 17,060.47 lakhs (2014 - ` 11,460.61 lakhs)
Aggregate provision for diminution in value ` 2,067.50 lakhs (2014 - ` 2,067.50 lakhs )

6. Fixed Assets

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION NET BOOK VALUE

Particulars As at   As at As at   Upto  On   Upto Transition Adjustment recorded On Upto  As at  As at  As at
31st March,  Additions  Withdrawals &  31st March, Additions  Withdrawals & 31st March,  31st March,  For the year  Withdrawals &  31st March, against surplus balance in For the year  Withdrawals & 31st March,  31st March,  31st March,  31st March,

2013   adjustments  2014 adjustments 2015 2013   adjustments 2014 Statement of Profit & Loss adjustments 2015  2015 2014  2013

Tangible assets 

Plant and Equipment 2,508.57  —  — 2,508.57 —  — 2,508.57 587.90 217.82  — 805.72 — 194.29  — 1,000.01 1,508.56 1,702.85 1,920.67

Office Equipment 1.60  —  — 1.60 —  — 1.60 0.38 0.08  —  0.46 1.06 —  —  1.52 0.08 1.14 1.22

TOTAL 2,510.17  —  — 2,510.17 —  — 2,510.17 588.28 217.90  — 806.18 1.06 194.29  — 1,001.53 1,508.64 1,703.99 1,921.89

The above includes following assets given on operating leases, which are not non-cancellable :

(*) The  lease rental from these leased assets of ` 531.95 lakhs (2014 - ` 593.51 lakhs)  is included in Lease and other rental income under “Revenue from
operations” (Note 14)

Gross Block  Accumulated  Net Block  Depreciation  Gross Block  Accumulated  Net Block Depreciation
Depreciation charge Depreciation charge

for the year for the year
Plant and Equipment (*)  2,508.31 999.96 1,508.35 194.28 2,508.31 805.68 1,702.63 217.81
TOTAL 2,508.31 999.96 1,508.35 194.28 2,508.31 805.68 1,702.63 217.81

As at 31st March, 2015 As at 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs)
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As at 31st March, 2015 As at 31st March, 2014
Number Value Number Value

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)

9. Inventories (at lower of cost and fair value)

Stock-in-trade
Equity Shares of ` 10.00 each, fully paid

SKH Metals Limited [book value ` 1.00] (*) 40,000 ...  40,000 ...
Patheja Brothers Forgings and Stampings Limited [book value ` 1.00] (*) 50,000 ...  50,000 ...
Jind Textiles Limited [book value ` 1.00] (*) 5,00,000 ...  5,00,000 ...
Taib Capital Corporation Limited [book value ` 1.00] (*) 2,45,000 ...  2,45,000 ...

Preference Shares of ` 1,00,00,000.00 each, fully paid
ICICI Bank Limited 34  1,529.71  34  1,529.71
Non-Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Non-Participative
Preference Shares (20 April 2018)

Units of  Mutual funds of ` 10.00 each, fully paid
Birla Sun Life Fixed Term Plan - Series KI (368 Days) — —  1,00,00,000  1,000.00
Birla Sun Life Fixed Term Plan - Series-KN (366 Days) — —  2,00,00,000  2,000.00
Birla Sun Life Fixed Term Plan - Series KS (369 Days) — —  1,50,00,000  1,500.00
DWS Fixed Maturity Plan - Series 55 — —  1,50,00,000  1,500.00
HDFC Liquid Fund 3,55,62,781 9,800.00 — —
HDFC Fixed Maturity Plan 366D March 2014 (1) Series 29 — —  2,00,00,000  2,000.00
HDFC Fixed Maturity Plan 366D March 2014 (2) Series 29 — —  1,50,00,000  1,500.00
HDFC Fixed Maturity Plan 371D August 2013 (1) Series 27 — —  3,50,00,000  3,500.00
ICICI Prudential Interval Fund II Quarterly Interval Plan B — —  2,49,91,253  2,500.00
ICICI Prudential Interval Fund Series VI Annual Interval Plan D — —  2,50,00,000  2,500.00
IDFC Yearly Series Interval Fund Direct Plan - Series III — —  99,84,524  1,000.00
Reliance Fixed Horizon Fund - XXIV - Series 4 — —  4,00,00,000  4,000.00
TATA Fixed Maturity Plan Series 46 Scheme O — —  2,50,00,000  2,500.00
TATA Fixed Maturity Plan Series 43  Scheme A — —  2,50,00,000  2,500.00
J P Morgan India Liquid Fund SuperInstitutional Plan 3,85,44,465  6,975.03 — —

Units of  Mutual funds of ` 1,000.00 each, fully paid
ICICI Prudential Liquid 47,40,987  9,800.00 — —
L&T Liquid Fund — —  2,47,199  2,500.76
Reliance Liquidity Fund — —  3,18,545  3,187.08
Religare Invesco Liquid Fund — —  2,49,810  2,500.79
SBI Premier Liquid Fund — —  2,49,408  2,502.19
Tata Money Market Fund  Plan A 4,45,837  9,800.00  12,99,225  13,011.93

Non-Convertible Debentures
Tata Sons Limited 80  800.00  80  800.00

9.70% Unsecured Redeemable Non Convertible Debentures (25 July 2022)
of ` 10,00,000.00 each, fully paid

Bonds
Indian Railway Finance Corporation Limited (*) 7,50,000  7,029.08  7,50,000  7,010.36

7.18% Tax Free Non Cumulative Non Convertible Redeemable Bonds in
the nature of Debentures 86th Series (19 February 2023) of ` 1,000.00 each, fully paid

India Infrastructure Finance Company Limited 9 90.00 200  2,000.00
9.41% Secured Redeemable Taxable Non Convertible Bonds in the nature of
Debentures. Series X-A (27 July 2037) of ` 10,00,000.00 each, fully paid

TOTAL 45,823.82  63,042.82

* Aggregate value of stock-in-trade written off/Aggregate excess of cost over fair value 501.32  520.04

As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
8. Long-term loans and advances

Secured, considered good
Term loans to others 280.00 420.00

Unsecured, considered good
Term loan to related party 200.00 —
Deposits with statutory authorities 6.49 3.39
Advance Tax (net of provisions) 55.43 64.55

TOTAL 541.92 487.94
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As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
10. Trade receivables

Others
Unsecured, considered good* 383.77 540.93

TOTAL 383.77 540.93
(*) Include interest accrued but not due ` 307.19 lakhs (2014 - ` 429.32 lakhs)

As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
11. Cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents@
Balances with banks

Current accounts 13.49 114.80
In other deposit accounts 30.00 —

Cheques on hand — 35.19
Cash on hand ... 0.01

43.49 150.00
Other bank balances*

In deposit accounts 12,500.00 —
TOTAL 12,543.49 150.00

@ Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cheques on hand, cash at bank and 
deposits with banks with original maturity of 3 months or less.

* Represents deposits with  original maturity of more than 3 months but does not include 
deposits with remaining maturity of more than 12 months from the balance sheet date.

As at As at
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
12. Short-term loans and advances

Secured, considered good
Term loans to others 140.00  186.56

TOTAL 140.00  186.56
As at As at

31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014
(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)

13. Other Current Assests
Interest accrued on bank deposits 84.77  —
TOTAL 84.77  —

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
14. Revenue from operations

Net Profit/(loss) on sale of stock-in-trade (*) 1,514.46  223.23
Profit on sale of long-term investments 63.59  35.26

Dividend income
- Long-term investments 226.29  310.27
- Mutual funds held as stock-in-trade 2,793.79  3,161.42

Interest income
- Loans 100.24  84.78
- Bonds 722.06  726.70
- Non - convertible Debentures 150.64  77.61

Brokerage income 846.80  1,045.99
Lease and other rental income 567.95  629.51
Net Profit from other equity market operations —  240.33
TOTAL 6,985.82  6,535.10
(*) Net Profit/(loss) on sale of stock-in-trade 
Sales 8,72,487.59  10,61,249.94
Less: Purchases 8,53,754.13  10,58,884.69

18,733.46  2,365.25
Add: Increase/(Decrease) in closing stock-in-trade (17,219.00)  (2,142.02)
Net Profit/(loss) on sale of stock-in-trade 1,514.46  223.23

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
15. Other income

Interest income
- Deposits with banks 84.77 —
- Others (on income tax refund) — 1.85
Miscellaneous income 10.58 14.92

TOTAL 95.35 16.77

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
16. Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages 13.52 7.14
Contribution to provident and other funds 2.03 8.82
Staff welfare expenses 0.29 0.22

TOTAL 15.84 16.18

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
17. Other expenses

Rent 8.71  1.21
Bank, custodial and depository charges 0.50  0.37
Directors' sitting Fees 0.90  —
Rates and taxes 0.84  0.15
Repairs to buildings 0.38  2.52
Electricity charges 2.72  5.21
Insurance 1.71  5.01
Travelling and conveyance 0.62  0.76
Professional/Legal fees 7.82  6.22
Auditors' remuneration and expenses

Audit fees 2.25  2.02
Tax audit fees 1.12  1.12
Fees for other services 2.47  2.20
Reimbursement of expenses 0.41  0.39

Communication expenses 0.31  0.28
Printing, stationery and periodicals 0.38  0.62
Expenditure on Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) activities 90.00  —
Miscellaneous expenses 3.64  1.77

TOTAL 124.78  29.85

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

(` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)
18. Tax expense

Current tax
Income tax for the year 1,100.00 760.00
- for adjustments/(credits) related to previous — (25.75)
years - Net

1,100.00 734.25
Deferred tax

- for the year 8.22 29.26
8.22 29.26

TOTAL 1,108.22 763.51

iv. There are no Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises, to whom the
Company owes dues, which are outstanding for more than 45 days
during the year and also as at 31st March, 2015. This information as
required to be disclosed under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises
Development Act, 2006 has been determined to the extent such parties
have been identified on the basis of information available with the
Company.

v. Related Party Disclosures

(a) Relationship:

Holding Company
- ITC Limited
Subsidiary Company
- Greenacre Holdings Limited
Key Management Personnel
- Mr. Rajiv Tandon Non - Executive Chairman
- Mr. B.B.Chatterjee Non - Executive Director
- Mr. Saradindu Dutta Non - Executive Director
- Mr. Supratim Dutta Non - Executive Director
- Mr. Partho Chatterjee Independent Director (w.e.f.16.03.2015)
- Ms. Anindita Guhamallick Independent Director (w.e.f.16.03.2015)
- Mr. S. Suresh Kumar Chief Financial Officer (CFO) (w.e.f.01.01.2015)
- Mr. Sharad Jain Manager and Company Secretary

19. Additional Notes to the Financial Statements
i. Earnings per share

2015  2014
Earnings per share has been computed as under :
(a) Profit for the year (` in lakhs) 5,638.04 3,456.93
(b) Weighted average number of

Equity Shares outstanding 64,64,78,737 64,64,78,737
(c) Earnings per share on profit for the

year (Face Value - ` 10.00 per share) -
Basic and Diluted [(a)/(b)] ` 0.87 ` 0.53

ii. Contingent liabilities and commitments
(a) Contingent liabilities

 Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts ` 57.99
lakhs (2014 - ` 57.99 lakhs) of Sales tax claims disputed by the
Company relating to issues of applicability.

(b) Commitments
 Uncalled liability on shares partly paid ` 0.11 lakhs (2014 - `

0.11 lakhs)
iii. Segment Reporting

The Company operates in a single business segment namely Financial
Services and in a single geographical segment in India.
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1. Sale of unquoted investments (at cost) — 169.32 — — — — — — — —

2. Rent Received 36.00 36.00 — — — — — — — —

3. Purchase of Services

—  ITC Limited 0.96 — — — — — — — — —

—  International Travel House Limited — — — — 0.02 0.28 — — — —

4. Rent Paid 8.71 1.21 — — — — — — — —

5. Expenses Reimbursed 2.78 7.36 — — — — — — — —

6. Dividend Income

— International Travel House Limited — — — — 154.13 154.13 — — — —

7. Loans Disbursed

— ITC Infotech India Limited — — 10,000.00 — — — — — — —

— Landbase India Limited — — 200.00 — — — — — — —

8. Interest Income

— ITC Infotech India Limited — — 30.51 — — — — — — —

— Landbase India Limited — — 7.95 — — — — — — —

9. Receipt towards Loan Repayment

— ITC Infotech India Limited — — 10,000.00 — — — — — — —

10. CSR Contribution

— ITC Sangeet Research Academy — — — — — — — — 90.00 —

11. Interim Dividend Paid 9,050.70 6,500.00 — — — — — — — —

12. Remuneration of manager on

deputation reimbursed  (for CFO) 5.93 — — — — — — — — —

13. Directors' sitting fees

— Mr. Partho Chatterjee — — — — — — 0.50 — — —

— Ms. Anindita Guhamallick — — — — — — 0.40 — — —

14. Balances as at 31st March 
i) Deposits Taken 12.00 12.00 — — — — — — — —

ii) Loans Given

— Landbase India Limited — — 200.00 — — — — — — —

iii) Payables

— Mr. Partho Chatterjee — — — — — — 0.10 — — —

— Ms. Anindita Guhamallick — — — — — — 0.10 — — —

(b) DISCLOSURE OF TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND RELATED PARTIES AND THE STATUS OF OUTSTANDING
BALANCES AS AT 31.03.2015      (` in lakhs)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION SUMMARY Holding Company Fellow Subsidiaries Associates

2015 2014

Other related parties with whom the Company had transactions 
during the year

(i) Fellow Subsidiary Companies
- ITC Infotech India Limited
- Landbase India Limited

(ii) Associate Company
- International Travel House Limited

(iii) Other Entity under control of the Holding Company
- ITC Sangeet Research Academy

2015 2014 2015 2014

Key Management
Personnel

Other Entity under
control of the Holding

Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

vi. Amounts towards Defined Contribution Plans have been recognized
under “Contribution to provident and other funds” under “Employee
benefits expense” in Note 16 – ` 1.57 lakhs (2014 – ` 4.37 lakhs).

vii. Defined Benefit Plans / Long Term Compensated Absences - As per
Actuarial Valuations as on 31st March, 2015 and recognised in the
Financial Statements in respect of Employee Benefit Schemes:

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 (` in lakhs) 31st March, 2014 (` in lakhs)

Leave Leave
Gratuity Encashment Gratuity Encashment

Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded
I. Components of Employer Expenses

1. Current Service Cost 0.23 0.12 0.21 0.12
2. Interest Cost 0.17 0.14 2.30 1.41
3. Expected Return on Plan Assets (0.13) — (1.37) —
4. Curtailment Cost/(Credit) — — — —
5. Settlement Cost/(Credit) — — — —
6. Past Service Cost — — 4.50 —
7. Actuarial Losses/(Gains) 0.19 0.06 (1.19) (0.80)
8. Total expense recognised in 

the Statement of Profit & Loss 0.46 0.32 4.45 0.73
The Gratuity expenses have been recognized in "Contribution to provident and other funds" and Leave
encashment in "Salaries and wages" under “Employee benefits expense” under Note 16.

For the year ended For the year ended

31st March, 2015 (` in lakhs) 31st March, 2014 (` in lakhs)

Leave Leave

Gratuity Encashment Gratuity Encashment

Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded

II. Actual Returns 0.11 — 0.19 —

III.Net Asset / (Liability) recognised in

Balance Sheet

1.  Present Value of Defined Benefit 2.78 2.10 2.20 1.78

Obligation

2. Fair Value of Plan Assets 1.74 — 1.39 —

3. Status [Surplus/(Deficit)] (1.04) (2.10) (0.81) (1.78)

4. Unrecognised Past Service Cost — — — —

5. Net Asset / (Liability) recognised

in Balance Sheet (1.04) (2.10) (0.81) (1.78)
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VI. Actuarial Assumptions

1. Discount Rate (%) 7.75 7.75 9.00 9.00

2. Expected Return on Plan Assets (%) 7.75 — 9.00 —

V. Change in Fair Value of Assets
1. Plan Assets at the beginning of the year 1.39 — 29.00 —
2. Acquisition Adjustment — — — —
3. Expected Return on Plan Assets 0.13 — 1.37 —
4. Transfer Out — — (28.00) —
5. Actuarial Gains/(Losses) (0.01) — (1.18) —
6. Actual Company Contributions 0.23 — 0.20 —
7. Benefits Paid — — — —
8. Plan Assets at the end of the year 1.74 — 1.39 —

For the year ended For the year ended
31st March, 2015 (` in lakhs) 31st March, 2014 (` in lakhs)

Leave Leave
Gratuity Encashment Gratuity Encashment

Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded
IV. Change in Defined Benefit

Obligation (DBO)
1. Present Value of DBO at the 2.20 1.78 25.56 30.23

beginning of the year
2. Current Service Cost 0.23 0.14 0.21 0.12
3. Interest Cost 0.17 0.12 2.30 1.41
4. Curtailment Cost/(Credit) — — — —
5. Settlement Cost/(Credit) — — — —
6. Plan Amendments — — — —
7. Past Service Cost — — 4.50 —
8. Transfer Out — — (28.00) —
9. Actuarial (Gains)/Losses 0.18 0.06 (2.37) (0.80)
10.Benefits Paid — — — (29.18)
11.Present Value of DBO at the

end of the year 2.78 2.10 2.20 1.78

viii. Pursuant to the enactment of the Companies Act, 2013, (the ‘Act’), the Company has, effective 1st April, 2014, reviewed and revised the estimated
useful lives of its fixed assets, in accordance with the provisions of Schedule II of the Act. In respect of assets, whose useful life is exhausted as at 1st
April, 2014, the related carrying amount aggregating to ` 0.70 lakhs (net of deferred tax of ` 0.36 lakhs) has been adjusted against opening balance
of Surplus in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The consequential impact on the depreciation charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss during the
year on account of the aforesaid change in useful lives is not material.

ix. During the year ended 31st March, 2014, on a review of the Company’s unquoted long-term investments, supported by an independent valuation,
management considered it prudent to recognize diminution, other than temporary of ` 2,067.50 lakhs, in the carrying value of the Company’s investment
in the equity share capital of Adyar Property Holding Company Private Limited, which was transferred consequent to the amalgamation of Sage
Investments Limited with Russell Credit Limited in 1999.

x. Previous Year’s figures have been regrouped / re-classified, where necessary to correspond with the current year’s classification/disclosure.

xi. Disclosures under Non-Banking Financial Companies - Corporate Governance (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015 and Systemically Important Non-Banking
Financial (Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015  :

a)   Capital
(` in lakhs)

IX. Net Asset / (Liability) recognised For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
in Balance Sheet (including 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014 31st March, 2013 31st March, 2012 31st March, 2011
experience adjustment) (` in lakhs) (` in lakhs) (` in lakhs) (` in lakhs) (` in lakhs)

Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave Gratuity Leave
Encashment Encashment Encashment Encashment Encashment

Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded

Present Value of Defined
Benefit Obligation 2.78 2.10 2.20 1.78 25.56 30.23 21.78 28.87 19.09 10.64
Fair Value of Plan Assets 1.74 — 1.39 — 29.00 — 25.00 — 20.00 —
Status [Surplus/ (Deficit)] (1.04) (2.10) (0.81) (1.78) 3.44 (30.23) 3.22 (28.87) 0.91 (10.64)
Experience Adjustment of
Plan Assets  [Gain / (Loss)] (0.03) — (1.03) — 1.18 — (1.62) — (0.81) —
Experience Adjustment of
Obligation  [(Gain) / Loss] (0.12) (0.17) (1.91) (0.47) (1.70) (3.45) (1.87) 15.78 11.66 1.59

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take
account of inflation, seniority, promotion and other relevant factors, such as supply
and demand factors in the employment market.

VII. Major Category of Plan Assets As at As at
as a % of the Total Plan Assets 31st March, 2015 31st March, 2014

1. Government Securities/Special
Deposit with RBI 12.00 11.00

2. High Quality Corporate Bonds 13.00 13.00

3. Insurance Companies* 68.00 66.00

4. Mutual Funds 4.00 3.00

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents 3.00 7.00

6. Term Deposit — —

7. Equity — —

*  In the absence of detailed information regarding plan assets which is
funded with Insurance Company, the composition of each major category
of plan assets, the percentage or amount for each category to the fair
value of plan assets have not been disclosed.

VIII.Basis used to determine the Expected Rate of Return on Plan Assets

The expected rates of return on plan assets are based on the current
portfolio of assets, investment strategy and market scenario. In order
to protect the capital and optimize returns within acceptable risk
parameters, the plan assets are well diversified.

Particulars 2015 2014

i) CRAR (%) 118.79 99.70
ii) CRAR - Tier I Capital (%) 118.78 99.69
iii) CRAR - Tier II Capital (%) 0.01 0.01

iv) Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier - II Capital — —

v) Amount raised by issue of Perpetual Debt Instruments — —
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b)  Investments

Particulars 2015 2014

(1) Value of Investments

(i) Gross Value of Investments (including Inventories)
(a) In India 65,735.29 83,119.12
(b) Outside India — —

(ii) Provisions for Depreciation
(a) In India 2,568.82 2,587.54
(b) Outside India — —

(iii) Net Value of Investments (including Inventories)
(a) In India 63,166.47 80,531.58
(b) Outside India — —

(2) Movement of provisions held towards depreciation on investments (including Inventories)
(i) Opening balance 2,587.54                 30.40
(ii) Add : Provisions made during the year — 2,557.14
(iii) Less : Write-off / (write-back) of excess provisions during the year (18.72) —
(iv) Closing balance 2,568.82           2,587.54

c) Derivatives
i. Forward Rate Agreement/ Interest Rate Swap :  Nil
ii. Exchange Traded Interest Rate Derivatives :  Nil
iii. Disclosures on Risk Exposure in Derivatives :

 Qualitative Disclosure : The Company does not use Derivatives to hedge its risks.
 Quantitative Disclosure : Nil

d) Disclosures relating to Securitisation : 
i. Outstanding amount of securitised assets: Nil
ii. Details of financial assets sold to securitisation / reconstruction companies for asset reconstruction : Nil
iii. Details of assignment transactions undertaken : Nil
iv. Details of non-performing financial assets purchased / sold : Nil

e)   Asset Liability Management Maturity pattern of certain items of Assets and Liabilities:

Upto 30/31 Over Over Over Over Over Over Over Total
Days 1 month & 2 months & 3 months & 6 Months 1 year & 3 years & 5 years

upto upto upto & upto upto upto
2 months 3 months 6 months 1 year 3 years 5 years

Deposits
— Fixed Deposits 30.00 — — — 12,500.00 — — — 12,530.00
with Banks
— Others — — — — — — — 6.49 6.49
Advances / Loans 35.00 — — 35.00 70.00 480.00 — — 620.00
Investments
(including Inventories) 45,823.82 1 — — — — — — 17,342.65 2 63,166.47
Borrowings — — — — — — — — —
Foreign Currency assets — — — — — — — — —
Foreign Currency liabilities — — — — — — — — —
1   Investments classified as Inventories (Note 9)
2   Investments classified as Non-current investments (Note 7)

f)  Exposure to Real Estate Sector : Nil

g)  Exposure to Capital Market:

Particulars 2015 2014

(i) Direct investment in equity shares (*), convertible bonds, convertible debentures and units
of equity-oriented mutual funds the corpus of which is not exclusively invested in corporate debt; 8,552.23 8,698.34

(ii) Advances against shares / bonds / debentures or other securities or on clean basis to individuals
for investment in shares (including IPOs / ESOPs), convertible bonds, convertible debentures,
and units of equity-oriented mutual funds; —                    —

(iii) Advances for any other purposes where shares or convertible bonds or convertible debentures or
units of equity oriented mutual funds are taken as primary security; — —

(iv) Advances for any other purposes to the extent secured by the collateral security of shares
or convertible bonds or convertible debentures or units of equity oriented mutual funds i.e. where
the primary security other than shares / convertible bonds / convertible debentures  /  units
of  equity oriented mutual funds does not fully cover the advances; —  —

(v) Secured and unsecured advances to stockbrokers and guarantees issued on behalf of
stockbrokers and market makers; — —

(vi) Loans sanctioned to corporates against the security of shares / bonds / debentures or
other securities or on clean basis for meeting promoter's contribution to the equity of new
companies in anticipation of raising resources; — —

(vii) Bridge loans to companies against expected equity flows / issues; — —
(viii) All exposures to Venture Capital Funds (both registered and unregistered) — —

Total Exposure to Capital Market 8,552.23 8,698.34

* Only quoted equity investments considered

(` in lakhs)

(` in lakhs)

(` in lakhs)
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h) Details of financing of parent company products : Nil
i) Details of Single Borrower Limit / Group Borrower Limit exceeded by the Company : Nil
j) Unsecured Advances / Loans as on 31st March, 2015 : ` 200 lakhs
k) Registration obtained from other financial sector regulators : None
l) Penalties imposed by RBI and other regulators : Nil
m) Related Party Transactions : Details of material transactions with related parties and Company's  Policy on dealing with Related Party Transactions

are disclosed in the Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and Analysis.
n) Ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year : None
o) Remuneration of Directors : Details of remuneration and pecuniary relationship & transactions of the Non-Executive Directors of the Company

are disclosed in the Report of the Board of Directors & Management Discussion and Analysis.
p) Provisions and Contingencies:

Break up of 'Provisions and Contingencies' shown under the head Expenditure 2015 2014
in the Statement of Profit and Loss

Provisions for depreciation on Investment (18.72)               2,557.14 
Provision towards NPA — —
Provision made towards Income tax (including deferred tax) 1,108.22                   763.51
Other Provision and Contingencies (with details)
A Provision for compensated absences 0.32 0.73
B Provision for gratuity 0.46 4.45
Provision for Standard Assets — —

q) Draw Down from Reserves : Nil
r) Concentration of Deposits : Not Applicable
s) Concentration of Advances and Exposures :

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)

(` in lakhs)

t) Concentration of NPAs : Nil
u) Sector-wise NPAs : Nil
v) Movement of NPAs : Nil
w) Overseas Assets : Nil
x) Off-Balance Sheet SPVs sponsored : Nil
y) Customer Complaints:

I No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year  Nil
II No. of complaints received during the year  Nil
III No. of complaints redressed during the year  Nil
IV No. of complaints pending at the end of the year  Nil

Borrower Principal Interest Percentage Principal Interest Percentage
Accrued to Total Accrued to Total

Exposure Exposure

ATC Limited 420.00 12.93 68.40% 560.00 17.25 92.48%

Landbase India Limited 200.00 — 31.60% — — —

Big Boss Foods Private Limited — — — 46.56 0.36 7.52%

TOTAL 620.00 12.93 100.00% 606.56 17.61 100.00%

As at 31st March, 2014As at 31st March, 2015
(` in lakhs)

SCHEDULE TO THE BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2015 [as required in terms of Paragraph
13 of Systemically Important Non-Banking Financial (Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding)
Companies Prudential Norms (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015]

 ( ` in Lakhs)

Particulars 31st March, 2015

Liabilities Side : Amount  Amount
Outstanding Overdue

(1) Loans and advances availed by the NBFCs inclusive 
of interest accrued thereon but not paid — —
a) Debentures (other than falling within the meaning

of public deposits) — —
-  Secured — —
-  Unsecured — —

b) Deferred Credits — —
c) Term Loans — —
d) Inter-Corporate loans and borrowings — —
e) Commercial Papers — —
f) Other Loans (specify nature) — —

Assets Side : Amount
Outstanding

2 Break-up of Loans and Advances including bills receivables 
[other than those included in (4) below]
a) Secured                    420.00
b) Unsecured                    200.00

3 Break-up of Leased Assets and stock on hire and other
assets counting towards AFC activities
(i) Lease assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors                 1,508.35

(a) Financial lease —
(b) Operating lease                  1,508.35

(ii) Stock on hire including hire charges under sundry debtors —
(a) Assets on hire —
(b) Repossessed Assets —

(iii) Other Loans counting towards AFC Activities —
(a) Loans where assets have been repossessed —
(b) Loans other than (a) above

 ( ` in Lakhs)

Particulars 31st March, 2015

Assets Side :  Amount
Outstanding

(4) Break-up of Investments :
Current Investments

1. Quoted :                  7,029.08

(i) Shares :
(a) Equity —
(b) Preference —

(ii) Debentures and Bonds (included in Note  9)                  7,029.08

(iii) Units of Mutual Funds ( included in Note  9) —

(iv) Government Securities —

(v) Others —

2. Unquoted : 38,794.74
(i) Shares :

(a) Equity —
(b) Preference (included in Note  9)                 1,529.71

(ii) Debentures and Bonds (included in Note  9)                   890.00

(iii) Units of Mutual Funds ( included in Note 9)               36,375.03

(iv) Government Securities —

(v) Others —

Long Term investment :

1. Quoted :                  8,552.23

(i) Shares : (a) Equity                  8,552.23
(b) Preference —

(ii) Debentures and Bonds —

(iii) Units of Mutual Funds —

(iv) Government Securities —

(v) Others —
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 (` in Lakhs)

Particulars 31st March, 2015

Assets Side :  Amount
Outstanding

2. Unquoted :                  8,790.42

(i) Shares : (a) Equity                  8,790.42

(b) Preference —
(ii) Debentures and Bonds —

(iii) Units of Mutual Funds —

(iv) Government Securities —

(v) Others —

(5) Borrower group-wise classification of assets financed as in (2) and (3) above

Amount Net of Provisions
 Category Secured  Unsecured  Total

1. Related Parties
(a)  Subsidiaries — — —
(b) Companies in the same group 420.00 200.00 620.00
(c) Other related parties — — —

2. Other than related parties —      1,508.35                1,508.35

Total 420.00      1,708.35                2,128.35

 (` in Lakhs)

(6) Investor group-wise classification of all investments
(current and long term) in shares and securities (both quoted and unquoted):

Category Market Value / Book Value
Break-up or fair (Net of

value or NAV Provisions)

1. Related Parties
(a) Subsidiaries      5,649.22             4,210.34
(b) Companies in the same group      8,995.73            4,148.66
(c) Other related parties — —

2. Other than related parties    56,382.81             54,807.47

Total 71,027.76             63,166.47

(7) Other Information

Particulars Amount (`)

(i) Gross Non-Performing Assets —
(a) Related Parties —
(b) Other  related parties —

(ii) Net Non-Performing Assets —
(a) Related Parties —
(b) Other than related parties —

(iii) Assets acquired in satisfaction of debt —

20. Significant Accounting Policies

IT IS CORPORATE POLICY

Convention

To prepare financial statements in accordance with applicable Accounting
Standards in India. A summary of important accounting policies is set out
below. The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with
relevant presentational requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

Basis of Accounting

To prepare financial statements in accordance with the historical cost convention.

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per
the Company's normal operating cycle and other criteria as set out in Schedule
III to the Companies Act, 2013 based on the nature of services.

Fixed Assets

To state Fixed Assets at cost of acquisition inclusive of inward freight, duties
and taxes and incidental expenses related to acquisition. Expenses capitalised
also include borrowing costs, if any.

Depreciation

To calculate depreciation on Fixed Assets, on 'Straight Line' basis over the
useful lives specified in Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013.

Investments

To state Current Investments at lower of cost and fair value and Long Term
Investments, including in Joint Ventures and Associates, at cost.  Where
applicable, provision is made to recognise a decline, other than temporary,
in valuation of Long Term Investments. Investments are accounted for based
on the trade date. The Investments are accounted in compliance with the
Prudential Norms as prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India for Non-Banking
Financial Companies.

Revenue Recognition

To recognise revenue including lease rentals on an accrual basis at the time
of rendering of services excluding taxes recovered except in case of default
where accrual is guided by Prudential Norms prescribed by the Reserve Bank
of India for Non-Banking Financial Companies.

To account for Income from Investments on an accrual basis, inclusive of
related tax deducted at source. To account for Income from Dividends when
the right to receive such dividends is established.

Inventories

To state inventories comprising of stock-in-trade at lower of cost or at available
market quotation or their fair values, whichever is lower. The cost is calculated
on weighted average method. Stock-in-trade is accounted for based on trade
date.

Foreign Currency Translation

To account for transactions in foreign currency at the exchange rate prevailing
on the date of transactions. Gains/Losses arising out of fluctuations in the
exchange rates are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period
in which they arise.

To account for differences between the forward exchange rates and the
exchange rates at the date of transactions, as income or expense over the life
of the contracts.

To account for profit/loss arising on cancellation or renewal of forward exchange
contracts as income/expense for the period.

To account for gains/losses in the Statement of Profit and Loss on foreign
exchange rate fluctuations relating to monetary items at the year-end.

Employee Benefits

To make regular monthly contributions to Provident Fund which are in the
nature of defined contribution schemes and such paid/payable amounts are
charged against revenue.

To determine the liabilities towards gratuity and employee leave encashment
by an independent actuarial valuation as per the requirements of Accounting
Standard -15 on "Employee Benefits". To determine actuarial gains or losses
and to recognise such gains or losses immediately in the Statement of Profit
and Loss as income or expense.

Taxes on Income

To provide Current tax as the amount of tax payable in respect of taxable
income for the period, measured using the applicable tax rates and tax laws.

To provide Deferred tax on timing differences between taxable income and
accounting income subject to consideration of prudence, measured using the
tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
Balance Sheet date.

Not to recognise Deferred tax assets on unabsorbed depreciation and carry
forward of losses unless there is virtual certainty that there will be sufficient
future taxable income available to realise such assets.

Kolkata, 28th April, 2015

S. DUTTA Director R. TANDON Chairman
S. SURESH KUMAR Chief Financial Officer S. JAIN Manager & Company Secretary

On behalf of the Board
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Form AOC-I

[Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014]

Statement containing salient features of the financial statements of subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures

Part “A”: Subsidiaries

1. SI. No. : 1

2. Name of the subsidiary : Greenacre Holdings Limited

3. Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned,

if different from the holding company’s

reporting period : Year ended 31st March (same as the Holding Company)

4. Reporting currency and Exchange rate as
on the last date of the relevant Financial year
in the case of foreign subsidiaries. : Not applicable

5. Share capital (` in lakhs) : 4,206.02 (4,20,60,166 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)

(` in lakhs)

6. Reserves & surplus : 1,448.80
7. Total assets : 6,054.77
8. Total liabilities : 6,054.77
9.  Investments : 1,570.14
10. Turnover : 252.02
11. Profit before taxation : 133.37
12. Provision for taxation : 29.78
13. Profit after taxation : 103.59
14. Proposed Dividend : NIL
15. % of shareholding : 100

Notes: 1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations: None
2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year : None

On behalf of the Board

S. DUTTA Director R. TANDON Chairman

S. SURESH KUMAR Chief Financial Officer S. JAIN Manager and Company Secretary

Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures

Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

Name of Associates/Joint Ventures Russell Investments Classic Infrastructure Divya Management Antrang Finance International Travel Maharaja Heritage
Limited  & Development Limited Limited Limited House Limited Resorts Limited

1. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15

2. Shares of Associates/Joint Ventures held by
the company on the year end

No.    42,75,435 37,50,000 41,82,915 43,24,634 36,26,633 90,000

Amount of Investment in Associates/
Joint Ventures (` in lakhs) 427.57 376.88 693.08 439.56 2,121.58 90.00

Extend of Holding % 25.43 29.41 33.33 33.33 45.36 25.00

3. Description of how there is significant influence Associate Associate Associate Associate Associate Associate

4. Reason why the associate/joint venture Not Applicable* Not Applicable* Not Applicable* Not Applicable* Not Applicable* Not Applicable*
is not consolidated

5. Net worth attributable to Shareholding 1,162.30 248.10 600.88 466.79 6,592.20  (6.51)
as per latest audited Balance Sheet (` in lakhs)

6. Profit / (Loss) for the year (` in lakhs) 603.25 20.16 8.36 19.80 1,837.83 23.70

i. Considered in Consolidation  *  —  —  —  —  —  —

ii. Not Considered in Consolidation (` in lakhs) * 603.25 20.16 8.36 19.80 1,837.83 23.70

* In accordance with the Companies (Accounts) Amendment Rules, 2014 dated 14th October 2014, requirement of Consolidated Financial Statement shall not apply to an intermediate
wholly owned subsidiary. As the Company is an intermediate wholly owned subsidiary, whose parent prepares Consolidated Financial Statement, the said requirements are not applicable to
the Company.

1. Names of the associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations : None

2. Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year : None
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